RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-16-2015 COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP001366 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ARMIN G. WAND, III,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR LAFAYETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Patricia A. FitzGerald State Bar Number 1015179 229 North Grove Street Mt. Horeb, WI 53572 (608) 437-4859

Attorney for Armin G. Wand, III

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Should Armin Wand's September 9th statement have been suppressed?

The trial court answered: No.

II. Does the coerced and unreliable confession provide a manifest injustice for withdrawing Armin Wand's plea?

The trial court answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant does not believe oral argument is necessary.

Publication may be warranted because this case raises new issues regarding admission of unreliable confessions.

STATEMENT OF CASE

September 11, 2012 -the state charged Armin G. Wand, III, with three counts first degree intentional homicide, three counts of attempted first degree intentional homicide, and one count of arson.(2).

November 15, 2012, the State filed an amended information adding a charge of first degree homicide of an unborn child.(57).

December 5, 2012, Wand stood mute to all charges.(145:3-6).

December 13, 2012, Wand filed a motion to suppress his statements.(72).

February 13, 2012, Court suppressed Wand's statement made on September 8, 2012,(146:51) but found the statement made on September 9, 2012, voluntary and admissible.(146:53).

February 15, 2013 - Wand pled guilty, as party to a crime of three counts first degree intentional homicide, one count of attempted first degree intentional homicide, one count of arson and one count of felony murder. (138:10-13).

April 17, 2013 - the circuit court sentenced Wand to three consecutive terms of life in prison without the possibility of parole on the first degree intentional homicides, a consecutive term of forty years confinement and twenty years extended supervision on the attempted first degree intentional homicide, a concurrent term of twenty-five years confinement and fifteen years extended supervision on the arson and a concurrent term of twenty-five years confinement and fifteen years extended supervision on the felony murder. (144:44-45;135).

January 12, 2015 - Wand moved to withdraw his plea. (165).

June 10, 2015 - the circuit court denied Wand's motion.(184).

June 26, 2015 - Wand filed a notice of appeal.(185).

FACTS

At about 3:10 a.m. on September 7, 2012, a fire was discovered at Armin Wand's home.(2:4). It was mainly in the living room where Armin, his wife Sharon, and their three year old son, Joseph, slept and in the northwest bedroom, just off the living room where sons Allen, age 7, and Jeffrey, age 5, slept.(2:5). Two year old J.W. was asleep in a second bedroom.(2.5).

All three of Armin's sons died in the fire.(2:4). Sharon, who was pregnant, was severely injured(2:4,5); her fetus did not survive.(57). Armin and J.W. were uninjured.(2:5, 100:6: line 966)

Armin Wand, who is cognitively disabled and legally blind, was interviewed by police six times in the

three days following the fire.(168:3:3; 168:4:15). The first interview was conducted by a local police officer.(Id.) The remaining five interviews were conducted by seven different special agents from the Department of Justice. The special agents always worked in teams of two.(Id.)

In the first three interviews on September 7th, Armin said he was awakened by his wife Sharon's screams. (168:4:16). There was a fire at the foot of the futon bed. (Id.). Armin went to the kitchen four times to fill a cup with water that he tossed on the fire.(Id.). He told Sharon to get their daughter J.W. and then he went outside, where he broke the window to the boys' room.(Id.). Sharon grabbed J.W. and went to the neighbors.(Id.) Armin's younger brother Jeremy had gone home many hours before and was not at Armin's house when the fire broke out.(Id.).

Later on September 7, 2012, Special Agents Jesse Crowe and Lisa Wilson questioned Armin from 9:38 p.m until 2:24 a.m. on September 8th in a conference room at University of Wisconsin Hospital.(197:27, 41;100:1,2). It started out as an investigative interview but became accusatory.(100:1:57, 168:4: 16). Special agents accused Armin of lying about having his daughter J.W outside the house during the fire and claimed that Sharon said he had J.W..(100:2:63). The agents also accused him of lying about his brother not being at the house at the time the fire started, claiming that witnesses saw them together. (100:2:61, 62). They asserted that Jeremy told them he was there.(Id.)

Finally, Armin said that Jeremy did come to the house. (100:2: line 4332-4334). Agents took Armin to the conference room where Jeremy was being interrogated to repeat that Jeremy had come to the house.(100:4: line 3356).

On September 8th, Agents Brad Montgomery and Jim Sielehr interrogated Armin for 3.5 hours in the conference room. (197:63).

The agents rejected Armin's claims of innocense. (100:5:line469-485). They repeatedly said Armin was lying and told him witnessses saw Jeremy and him talking outside the house during the fire(Id: line 615, 922, 1048). They offered him inducements to tell them about his involvement in the fire.

Listen, they're interviewing Jeremy right now. There's a saying that first one on the bus gets the best seat. We don't think you started the fire, but we think you knew about it. (100: 6 lines 640-42)

He [Jeremy] is looking at three murders. ... And do you understand that you're also looking at that same thing. Unless you start telling us what happened. (Id. lines 858-69)

Jeremy is talking about what happened last night. Cuz he wants to get the best deal for himself. He wants to not have to go to jail. ... Which is what I think you need to start recognizing right now. (Id. lines 928-33)

This is the time to tell me what happened. ... You have my word that Brad and I will do everything in our power to help you to make sure that this doesn't get painted in a way that makes you out to look like you did this to kill your family. (Id. lines 947-50)

Give me your version of what happened so that I can explain it and fight for you, otherwise when I go to see the prosecutor about this case and request charges, I'm gonna tell it the way I think it happened. And you ain't gonna like that. (Id. lines 1036-39)

There's like a tension right in your chest. ... Do you feel that in your back? Do you feel that in your shoulders? ...

I guarantee you sit down right there and you talk to us. You tell us the truth, that will go away. I guarantee it. (Id. lines 1071-78).

They also tried to minimize Armin's culpability.

I personally believe you were having some very trying difficulties with Sharon. (Id.lines 646- 47)

You're a decent man that is struggling ... you've got all these pressures building on you. (Id.lines 940-44)

Things didn't play out the way you planned. ... I get it. It doesn't make you a bad guy. (Id. lines 970-72)

It doesn't make you a bad guy that you're trying to help your brother. (Id. lines 1241-42)

Finally, Armin said he was complicit in Jeremy starting the fire. (Id. lines 3335-3342).

The agents arrested Armin and read him his Miranda Rights. (Id lines1883-1885 Armin said he did not want to talk any more.(Id.: 1895 Lines 188-192).

Agents, then, told Armin that Jeremy claimed Armin kissed a woman other than his wife.(197: 91). Montgomery also said, "I think it's kind of strange that you come in that night of the fire buddy buddy with the guy that you know just murdered your family."(Id. 105). He told Armin to think about that.(Id. 106). They gave him their contact information and told him if he wanted to talk to them, he had to contact them.(Id.)

On September 9, 2012, Special Agents Lourdes Fernandez and Michael T. Reimer interrogated Armin for 6.6 hours long with a 15 minute break at the Lafayette County Jail .(168:4:22;100:11:1). Armin had nothing to eat during this time but did drink from a bottle of water.(168:4:22; 100:10). Earlier that morning, Armin had attempted to reach the SA's Montgomery and Sielehr, "to set them straight about what Brad said."(197: 239). Before talking to Armin, SA Reimer introduced the Miranda Rights Form as "a formality" (100:11: 2, line 67). The agents then asked Armin why he had called agents Montgomery and Sielehr.(Id. line206). Wand explained it was untrue that he had kissed a girl in Necedah.(Id. line 214-215). He also said that he was walking with Jeremy at the hospital because Jeremy was helping him because he could not see.(Id. line 572-574).

At the suppression hearing, Agent Fernandez admitted that Armin had not call the agents in to talk to them about the fire.(197:136).

However, once Armin said his piece about the kiss and being with Jeremy, the agents asked Armin if they could ask him some questions.(100:11:line 619-620). Armin agreed.(Id. line 622).

Again, Armin started out claiming that Jeremy was not at his home at the time of the fire.

Armin: Well, just like yesterday when I was talking to the other two, everything that I tried telling them, they said I was lying about.

SA Reimer: We weren't here yesterday, Armin, okay, can you tell me in your own words, tell us about this fire. What happened?

Armin: Well, like I told the other two, Jeremy and all wasn't there. He went home, and they said people seen Jeremy there.

(Id. lines 2116-2123).

The agents did not accept that story.

After 18 hours questioning, nearly 7 hours of which happened while Armin was in custody, Armin, confessed to colluding with his brother, Jeremy, to start the fire and kill his family.

On the same day, after over 8 hours of interrogation, over 5 hours while in custody, Jeremy, who also had little sleep and little to eat, gave a statement confessing to assisting in starting the fire.(169:1, 3, 5, 8, 9, 11,12)

Subsequently, Special Agent William Boswell filed a fire scene report concluding "that this fire was the result of an intentional human act," based on Armin Wand's confession and Boswell's analysis of the fire scene.(166:15). Boswell concluded that the fire had two separate areas of origin – in the living room and in the northwest bedroom.(166: 11).

Armin moved to suppress his statements.(72). At the suppression hearing, Armin testified to having about four or five hours sleep between the fire and when he gave his final statement on September 9th. (197:240).

Dr. Kent M. Berney, a licensed psychologist, testified that he evaluated Armin and administered a variety of psychological tests.(Id:175).

Dr. Berney found that Armin's verbal comprehension index score was 72, placing him in the third percentile.(Id.:176). He was in the impaired range with a perceptual reasoning score of 65 and a processing index score of 56.(Id.176, 177). He had a working memory score of 100, placing him in the 50th percentile. His full scale IQ was 67, placing him in the impaired range of the first percentile.(Id.).

Dr. Berney opined that - taking Armin's intellectual capacity, his limitations in deductive reasoning, and his visual impairment(Id.:180-181) - that,

[He] was substantially compromised at the time of his interrogation in terms of his ability to make a rational, informed decision regarding proceeding with the interrogation.

(Id.:181).

The circuit court ruled that Armin's statement given on September 8, 2012, would be suppressed because the agents induced him to give a statement with promises of leniency(146:48-51), but that the statement given on September 9, 2012, when he was in the custody of the Lafayette County Jail was voluntary and would not be suppressed.(146: 52-53).

Armin pled guilty to the above charges on February 15, 2013.(138: 10-13).

Armin filed a postconviction motion asking the circuit court to allow him to withdraw his plea.(165:1).

With his motion, Armin filed reports from Dr. Lawrence White, Dr, David Thompson and Robert Paul Bieber.(167;168).

Robert Paul Bieber, a fire and explosion investigator (CFEI), certified by the National Association of Fire and Explosion Investigators, reviewed the discovery file relative to the fire investigation (167:2) and came to the following conclusions: Due to flashover and full room-involvement conditions, Fire Investigator Boswell was unable to determine the area of origin of the fire in the living room.

Boswell's conclusion that the irregular burn patterns to the floor and bedding in the bedroom constitute a separate and distinct area or origin does not withstand careful scrutiny. The burn patterns he referred to are more likely to have been the result of radiant heat from a hot gas layer of smoke generated from a fully involved fire in the adjacent living room, typical burn damage from the melting and burning of common items found in the bedroom, or some combination of the two.

The presence of a nearly identical burn pattern on the floor of the dining room – a burn pattern not found to be suspicious by Fire Investigator Boswell – provides further support that burn patterns of this type area common occurrence in building fires where the hot smoke and gases of combustion migrate to adjacent rooms.

Fire Investigator Boswell's conclusions were made several weeks prior to the interviews of Sharon Wand, the first eyewitness to the fire and the only person to have seen the fire from inside the house at it's earliest stages. During those interviews she said that the fire had only one area of origin (in the living room) and that the door between the living room and the bedroom was open. Fire Investigator Boswell was also unaware that the small burn pattern on the floor east of the plastic bed frame may have predated the fire in question and was possibly created during an earlier fire incident involving a child relative playing with a lighter.

As a result, Fire Boswell's conclusion that the fire had multiple areas of origin was not based on an objective application of the scientific method; was not in compliance with NFPA 921¹; was not in keeping with generally accepted techniques and methodologies within

¹ *Guide for Fire and Explosion Investigation* (2011 and 2014 editions),

the field of fire investigation; and is not supported by the evidence currently known.

Fire Investigator Boswell's final report fails to identify an ignition source or a first fuel ignited. His elimination of accidental ignition sources fails to consider or analyze several common potential ignition sources known to have been present at this fire scene, specifically discarded smoking materials or children playing with matches or a lighter. The circumstances bringing the unknown ignition source in contact with the unidentified first fuel ignited are similarly absent.

Fire Investigator Boswell's ultimate conclusion that "this fire was the result of an intentional human act" was directly based on these two previous determinations – that the fire had multiple areas of origin and that all accidental ignition sources in the living room had been examined and eliminated.

Additional examination and new evidence has shown that his conclusion of multiple areas of origin was premature and incorrect, and his examination and elimination of potential ignition sources was insufficient.

Under the circumstances described in the written report, photographs and witness statements, the only conclusion regarding origin, cause or classification of the cause of this fire which is in compliance with NFPA 921 and the standards of generally accepted techniques and methodologies within the field of fire investigation is "undetermined".

(165:5-7;167:17-18).

Dr. David W. Thompson, Ph.D., ABPP, a licensed Clinical and Forensic Psychologist, performed a forensic evaluation on Armin in September, 2014. He administered a number of psychological tests to Armin.(168: 1). Thompson also talked on the telephone with Armin's father, Armin Wand II, and reviewed several documents.(Id:2). Thompson concluded,

Mr. Wand is an individual with a long and well-documented history of developmental motor, speech, cognitive, and visual problems. ...Mr. Wand... possesses a number of personality characteristics that may have made him very susceptible to inappropriate interrogation techniques. Mr. Wand's performance on the MMPI-2-RF suggests that his suggestibility scores on the GSS-2 were not an anomaly. He is a very suggestible individual, appears to be quite acquiescent, and describes charactristics that are often seen with individuals who are very compliant with persons in authority over them even when they are aware of the inaccuracy of statements that they make.

(165:7; 168:3:8-9).

Dr Lawrence White, Professor of Psychology and Legal Studies at Beloit College, Beloit, Wisconsin, also reviewed the several documents and audio and video recordings of Armin and Jeremy Wand's statements (168:4:12-13), to form an opinion about the reliability of Wand's statement to police. Dr. White concluded,

A. There is widespread agreement among legal scholars and prominent researchers that (1)innocent suspects sometimes confess to crimes they did not commit, (2) false confessions happen more often than most people realize, and (3) the interrogation techniques used by police to extract true confessions can also induce an innocent suspect to confess falsely.

B. Armin Wand III possesses low intelligence and is borderline mentally retarded. He is unusually suggestible to leading questions and compliant to authority figures. These risk factors make an innocent person vulnerable to giving a false confession.

C. Department of Justice special agents interrogated Armin Wand on three days and for approximately 15 hours in total, well beyond the length of a typical interrogation (1-2 hours). Mr. Wand appeared to be physically and emotionally exhausted. Lengthy interrogations, sleep deprivation, and exhaustion are risk factors for obtaining a false confession.

D. Department of Justice special agents used interrogation techniques associated with the Reid School. These techniques—isolation, confrontation, refusal to honor claims of innocence, theme development, minimization, and offering inducements—are psychologically sophisticated and effective means to persuade guilty suspects to confess. Unfortunately, the techniques are so powerful that they sometimes induce innocent suspects to confess falsely.

E. Armin Wand often made incriminating statements that were inconsistent with crime scene evidence, with what his brother Jeremy said, and with what the special agents believed about the origins of the fire. The special agents intentionally or unintentionally, leaked key information to Mr. Wand and shaped his account so that it eventually conformed to the evidence obtained by investigators. As a result, it is not possible to determine if Mr. Wand's inculpatory statements were based on guilty knowledge or information fed to him by investigators.

F. There are many reasons to be concerned about the reliability of Mr. Wand's inculpatory statements. His statements may have been concocted so as to appease investigators and bring an end to lengthy questioning in a stressful environment. He may have felt helpless and hopeless while in custody. He may have mistakenly believed that a confession would be looked upon favorably by the authorities, that he would receive lenient punishment, and that his innocence would eventually be established in court. There is no reliable evidence that independently corroborates the inculpatory portions of Mr. Wand's alleged confession. In short, Armin Wand's confession *per se* appears to have little, if any, evidentiary value.

G In Dr. White's professional opinion Armin Wand's inculpatory statements were psychologically coerced. The investigators refused to accept his account of what happened, even though he often returned to that account. The investigators isolated Wand and questioned or interrogated him for 18 hours over three days, at a time when he was trying to cope emotionally with the death of his three sons. The DOJ special agents wore Wand down, making him feel helpless and hopeless. At the end, Wand was exhausted and confused. He then became extremely compliant and answered investigators' questions almost mechanically.

(165: 7-9; 168:4:27-28).

Because Jeremy Wand implicated Armin in his statement to police, Armin also included Dr. White's notes on his review of Jeremy's statements. Armin alleged that Dr. White would testify to the following, **A.** Individuals who have poor memories or who distrust their memory capabilities are generally more suggestible. As a result, they are more likely to make unreliable statements. When persons doubt their own memories of an event, they often rely on cues from others to help them construct a plausible account of what actually happened.

B. Juvenile suspects, such as Jeremy, generally confess more readily than adult suspects because juveniles are less likely to have prior experience with law enforcement, more likely to waive their Miranda rights, and more likely to comply with the demands of authority figures. In the Drizin and Leo (2004) sample of 125 false confessors, 32% were under the age of 18, and 63% were under the age of 25.

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