RECEIVED

02-29-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A LOF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2015AP1366-CR (Lafayette County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2012CF74)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ARMIN G. WAND, III,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

Attorneys For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

He does have poor eyesight. He wears glasses normally. He is legally blind, apparently, without those. But he is, as pointed out, able to navigate at least in terms of walking around a building and could do so up at the hospital in Madison. The doctor indicated he felt that this -- Dr. Berney felt that that would be a type of sensory depravation that would also relate to the voluntariness of the statement.

Now, the doctor had evaluated the Defendant. He had not listened to the interviews, and when

⁶ 100:Ex. 8 (list of Wand's legal-system contacts); 197:81-82 (DCI Special Agent James Sielehr testifying about Exhibit 8).

questioned, he indicated he could not pass on whether it was -- it's not a medical determination whether this statement or statements are voluntary or not. It was his opinion that because of his physical and mental limitations, it would be more probable that the Defendant was affected by the circumstances and more probable that it was an involuntary statement. But again, that is a determination to be made by the Court.

(146:41-43 (footnote added).) After reviewing the September 8 interview and finding those statement involuntary (146:46-51), the court turned to the September 9 interview:

[T]he next issue is September 9th, and I note in reading those questions, the nature of the questions were entirely different [from the questions on September 8]. I did not find any of those similar type questions that might be considered coercive or a promise of leniency in those statements. And without going into a great deal of detail on that issue, I find that those statements were voluntary.

(146:51.)

In arguing that the DCI agents coerced his inculpating statements on September 9, Wand again relies on Dr. White's assessment — and only Dr. White's assessment. Wand's Brief at 20-22. Again, that assessment lacked relevance to the circuit court's determination that the agents did not coerce Wand on September 9. In any event, the court and Dr. White reviewed the same videos. By denying suppression, the court essentially rejected Dr. White's opinion on coerciveness.

Moreover, the videos fully support the court's decision. In his brief, Wand writes that "[b]y the end of September 9th interrogation, [he] appeared exhausted and confused. He became extremely

compliant and answered investigators' questions almost mechanically." Wand's Brief 20. The videos refute that characterization. The State urges the court to view them. The videos also show that the DCI agents did not engage in any coercive or other impermissible behavior to induce Wand to clear his conscience and confess.

Wand contends that his inculpatory statements on September 9 flowed from the conduct that

The videos also refute Dr. White's characterization of Wand as "look[ing] wobbly when he left the room [at the end of the September 9 interview] and a police officer took his arm." Wand's Brief at 26 n.4 (quoting 168:Ex. 4, at 15). The end of the interview to which Dr. White refers occurs between 3 hours 5 minutes and 3 hours 6 minutes in the second video file (100:Ex. 10). The video does not show Wand exhibiting any wobbliness. Nor does the "police officer [taking] his arm" signify any wobbliness: the officer takes Wand's arm as he begins escorting Wand back to his cell. At the time, Wand did not have his glasses. In light of his subscription to Dr. Berney's claim that his lack of glasses would result in "substantial sensory deprivation," Wand's Brief at 20 (quoting Dr. Berney's report), Wand presumably did not have any objection to the officer taking his arm in order to guide him safely to his cell.

By itself, the substantial mischaracterization of Wand's condition at the end of the September 9 interview would have justified disregarding Dr. White's opinions altogether. Cf. In re Commitment of Brown, 2005 WI 29, ¶¶ 88-89, 279 Wis. 2d 102, 693 N.W.2d 715 ("[C]ourts are not rubber stamps for expert testimony. Neither a circuit court nor a reviewing court is required to accept an expert's ultimate conclusion. The circuit court may accept or reject expert testimony..."); First Nat'l Bank v. Wernhart, 204 Wis. 2d 361, 369, 555 N.W.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1996) (factfinder not bound by the opinion — even uncontradicted opinion — of any expert witness).

prompted the circuit court to suppress his September 8 statements. Wand's Brief at 22-23. The circuit court rejected that contention:

Now on September 9th, were those statements the product of an improper *Miranda* warning or a continuation of questioning after he, the Defendant, exercised his *Miranda* rights on September 8th, the date of the prior interview in Madison? The Court finds on this issue that there was sufficient attenuation, division, separation, ending of one session; beginning of another.

That September 8th, it's clear he was given his *Miranda* rights twice. He was given them on September 8th.^[8] Agent said, "Okay. We're done." They made a couple of comments. They were not questions. They made comments. They gave him their card. And I would agree with Mr. Korte on that count that that's proper. "You want to call us, then we'll talk to you."^[9]

He was taken to the jail, and it was, depending upon what exact time, at least 16 hours later that he had contact again, contact that was initiated by the Defendant. Certainly he had time to think about it. He was in jail. He was fed. He was allowed to rest. [10] Whether he was sleeping that whole time, he was certainly allowed to rest. Nobody was questioning him.

He asked specifically to have the phone to make the call to initiate that contact with the agents.^[11]

^{8 100:}Ex. 6, at DOJ 001894-95.

⁹ 197:75-76.

¹⁰ The Lafayette County jail's "special care sheet" for Wand (100:Ex. 18) shows the periods during which Wand slept the night before his September 9 interview, which began at 2:22 p.m. *See also* 197:157-63 (testimony of Lafayette County Deputy Sheriff John Jacobson about the "special care sheet").

¹¹ 197:119-20; 100:Ex. 11, at 1-2, 163-64

The agents were not available, so two different agents came to make that contact. He was read his rights. He was asked if he understood them. He understood them. Again, I think that was a separate interview and appropriately done after the *Miranda* rights were given to him.^[12] So, the Court will find those statements on September 9th were freely and voluntarily given and that they were done so after the Defendant was read his *Miranda* rights and after he indicated he understood them, and that he wished to proceed with those, with those statements.

(146:51-53 (footnotes added).)

In further support of his claim that his September 9 statements resulted from coercion flowing from the September 8 interview, Wand writes that he "testified at the suppression hearing that he believed [t]he promises made to him, that if he talked he wouldn't go to prison, and that belief continued as motivation for [him] to talk the next day. (197:233-234, 239)." Wand's Brief at 23. Pure nonsense. Neither the pages cited by Wand nor any other pages in the September 9 transcript (nor the video files themselves) show Wand even hinting that the September 8 interview coerced or induced him in any way into making incriminating statements during the September 9 interview.

Likewise, the notion that the DCI agents' references during the September 9 interview to stress as the underlying factor in setting the fire somehow created an implied promise of leniency, see Wand's Brief at 23, does not find any support in the transcript and video files. Beyond that, Wand's

¹² 100:Ex. 11, at 2-4.

contention amounts to an inexplicable non sequitur.

Wand asserts that the DCI agents did not scrupulously honor his invocation of his right to silence. *Id.* at 23-24. Nonsense again. As the circuit court noted, when Wand on September 8 invoked his right to silence, the DCI agents stopped questioning him, made a couple of comments that did not qualify as breaches of Wand's invocation, and gave him a business card in case he wanted to talk again (146:45-46). DCI Special Agent James Sielehr testified about those circumstances:

- Q [by AAG Korte] ... Between the time you returned to the room at around 9:30 and the time you arrested Mr. Wand, did you read him any *Miranda* rights?
- A Yes.
- Q And how did you do that?
- A I read him his *Miranda* rights utilizing my Department issued *Miranda* card.
- Q And did -- after reading those rights, did you ask Mr. Wand whether he understood them?
- A Yes.
- Q What was his response?
- A Yes.
- Q And did he agree to answer questions?
- A He didn't want to talk anymore.
- Q Did he specifically tell you that?
- A Yes
- Q Did you cease questioning of him at that point in time?
- A Yes.
- Q From the time the recording was terminated and Mr. Wand is being transported to the Lafayette County Sheriff's Department or waiting during that time period, did you and Agent Montgomery have any other discussions with Mr. Wand?
- A Yes.

State of Wisconsin

Q What were those?

A There were no questions being asked of Mr. Wand, but we made statements to Mr. Wand to clarify things for him. We both provided business cards, and wrote our phone numbers, and made sure that he understood that if he wanted to have any further conversations with us, that he would have to be the one to initiate that contact. And we talked about that in detail so that he fully understood that we were going to honor his wishes and that we weren't going to reach out to him again unless he wanted us to.

So when the deputy arrived, the personal items were bagged up, and included inside the bag were my business card and [DCI Special Agent] Brad[Montgomery]'s business card, and that was all turned over to the deputy that was going to transport Armin.

(197:74-76.) At the suppression hearing, Wand confirmed that he understood the *Miranda* rights read to him on September 8 (197:252-53); that of his own accord the next morning, he had repeatedly asked to contact DCI Special Agents Sielehr and Montgomery (197:253-54); and that he did not find it surprising either that different DCI agents showed up or that they asked him questions (197:255-56). 13

In short, the DCI agents scrupulously honored Wand's invocation of his right to silence: they contacted him again after he requested a meeting with them, and they further questioned him after

¹³ Wand testified that he did not remember having *Miranda* rights read to him on September 9, but the video files and transcript show DCI Special Agent Michael T. Reimer reading those rights (100:Ex. 11, at 2-4; *see also* 100:Ex. 12 (*Miranda* warning of rights signed by Wand)).

reading him his *Miranda* rights for a second time, ensured that he understood them, and obtained his permission to ask him more questions. If Wand had not wanted the DCI agents to question him on September 9, he knew that he could stop them at any time, and he knew how to do so, as he had shown the day before.

Wand also argues that the circuit court should have suppressed the September 9 statements as unreliable. Wand's Brief at 24-31. His argument suffers from three flaws. First, during the suppression proceeding, Wand did not argue the unreliability of those statements. In his suppression motion, he asserted that he "did not believe he was free to leave and therefore not in custody when he made his initial statements to law enforcement at the University of Wisconsin Hospital conference room and subsequent statements made in custody were not voluntary under the totality of the circumstances" (72:1). In his post-hearing brief (107), Wand did not argue unreliability. Rather, he argued that the court should suppress the statements as "involuntary" (107:1) and as obtained in violation of his right to remain silent (107:1); the brief did not contain any reference to an unreliability inquiry. At the oral-ruling hearing on the suppression motion (146), Wand's counsel made three perfunctory references to reliability (146:8-9) — but only in relation to the September 8 statements (146:6 ("begin with the [interrogation] that occurred at the UW Hospital on September 8th"), 146:9 ("For those reasons, your Honor, we do feel that the statements of September 8th were a product of coercion and should be found to be involuntary.")). In short, Wand either waived or forfeited his unreliability argument as to the September 9 statements. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 28-31, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 NW 2d 612 (explaining difference between forfeiture and waiver).

Second, as before, Wand's suppression argument relies almost exclusively on the opinions of Dr. Thompson and Dr. White — opinions created more than two years after the suppression hearing. Wand's Brief at 25, 26, 27 (citing Dr. White's report (168:4:7)), 28, 29. Those opinions do not have any relevance to the circuit court's exercise of discretion in denying the motion in February 2013.

Third, in asserting that the September 9 statements did not meet reliability criteria, Wand cites a law-review article, see Wand's Brief at 28-29, and a self-serving excerpt from his postconviction plea-withdrawal motion filed January 15, 2015 (almost two years to the day after the suppression hearing), see id. at 29-31 (citing 165:12-14 (omitted footnote)). The motion long postdates the suppression hearing and decision and, again, presents arguments to this court not presented in connection with the suppression hearing.

In the end, for all his rhetoric, Wand fails to show that the circuit court erroneously exercised discretion when the court suppressed the September 9 statements. The court held an evidentiary hearing at which nine witnesses testified, including Wand and a defense expert who did not view the video files or transcripts of the interviews, and at which the court received exhibits. The court correctly identified the applicable legal standards, fully examined the record (including reviewing the transcript and video files of the September 9 in-

State of Wisconsin

terview), and set forth a "reasoned application of the appropriate legal standard to the relevant facts," *Delgado*, 223 Wis. 2d at 281, for refusing to suppress the September 9 statements. In the end, Wand's argument amounts to nothing more than an invitation to this court to act as a circuit court second-guessing another circuit court's assessment of the evidence (including the credibility of witnesses). This court should — must — refuse that invitation.

Under the standards for a circuit court's exercise of discretion (pp. 3-4, above) and for appellate review of an order denying a suppression motion (pp. 6-9, above), this court should affirm the circuit court's decision denying suppression of Wand's September 9 statements.

II. UNDER THE "MANIFEST INJUSTICE" STANDARD FOR POST-SENTENCING PLEA WITHDRAWAL, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROP-ERLY EXERCISED DISCRETION WHEN THE COURT DENIED WAND'S POSTCONVICTION PLEA-WITHDRAWAL MOTION AFTER DE-TERMINING THAT THE OPINIONS OF WAND'S POSTCONVICTION EXPERTS DID NOT QUAL-IFY AS NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE. IN ADDITION, THE PLEA-WITHDRAWAL MO-TION AMOUNTED TO NOTHING MORE THAN AN ATTEMPT TO RELITIGATE THE PREVI-OUSLY DENIED SUPPRESSION MOTION.

Wand contends that he "alleged sufficient basis for withdrawal of his guilty pleas." Wand's Brief at 31 (typography modified). Under the standards for reviewing an order denying a post-sentencing motion for plea withdrawal (pp. 9-13, above), this court should affirm the circuit court's order deny-

ing Wand's motion. He failed to "carr[y] the heavy burden of establishing, by clear and convincing evidence, that withdrawal of the plea is necessary to correct a manifest injustice." *McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d at 473.

Wand's plea-withdrawal motion (165) rested on an assumption of the unreliability of Wand's statements (165:3-14) and on a claim of newly discovered evidence (165:14). The motion did not request an evidentiary hearing. In his supporting brief filed before the circuit court's motion hearing (180), Wand argued that the alleged unreliability and coercion of his incriminating statements (180:3-5) and the existence of newly discovered evidence (180:5-6) justified plea withdrawal.

At the hearing (191), the argument focused almost exclusively on the issue of newly discovered evidence. Wand's postconviction counsel made one conclusory reference to reliability: "I believe we can show that the confession is not -- it's not a reliable confession" (191:6). The circuit court denied the motion, declaring that Wand "ha[d] not raised . . . new evidence that would entitle him to further hearing on these issues" (191:22).

During the hearing, the court summarized for Wand's counsel its understanding of Wand's argument:

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